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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ATON CENTER, INC., a
California corporation,

Case No.: 3:2@v-00492-WQH-BGS

plaintiff,| ORDPER

V.

BLUE CROSS AND BLUE
SHIELD OF NORTH
CAROLINA, a corporation; and
DOES 1 through 10, inclusive,

Defendants

HAYES, Judge:

The matters pending before the Court are the Motion to Bssfied by Defenda
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of North Carolina (ECF No. 6) and the Btmiion tg
Consolidate Cases filed by Plaintiff Aton Center, Inc. and Defendaet Btoss and Bl
Shield of North Carolina (ECF No. 8).

I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On December 27, 2019, Plaintiff Aton Center, Inc. commenced this dstifiing
a Complaint in the Superior Court of California for the Cowfitgan Diego, assigned ca
number37-2019-00068844:U-BC-NC, against Defendant Blue Cross and Blue Shie
North Carolina. See ECF No. 1-4 at 2. Plaintiff alleges that Dafgrtfbreached [its
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agreements with Plaintiff and/or committed other wrongful actoamdsions by refusin
to pay Plaintiff the represented and agreed upon/represented tarnoumather paig
different and significantly lower (and inconsistent) amountstfeatment, leaving &
unpaid balance of $219,893.89 owing from Defendant[] to Plawtifich has cause
Plaintiff substantial hardship.” Id. at 4. Plaintiff brings the following eight causes

action: (1) breach of contract (oral agreement); (2) breach of contrgudted contract)

(3) promissory estoppel; (4) quantum meruit; (5) intentiomerepresentation; (6)

negligent misrepresentatipf¥) intentional concealment; and (8) violation of Busines
Professions Code § 17208ee id. at 4-11. Plaintiff seekgeneral, special, restitutionar

13

and/or compensatory damages”; prejudgment interest; expenses, attorney’s fees, “and
other cost”’; “an injunction prohibiting the conduct alleged herein and/or the appointment
of a receiver over Defenddit; and “other and further relief as the Court may deem just

and proper.” Id. at1l.

On March 16, 2020, Defendant removed the action to this Cotstigmt to 28
U.S.C. § 1332, diversity jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. § 1441(b), &80 5.C. § 1446See ECH

No. 1 at 1.
On April 17, 2020, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss diftiff’s Complaint for

failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted pursu&ederal Rule of Civi

—_—
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of
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y

Procedure 12(b%). (ECF No. 6).0n the same day, Defendant filed a Request for Judicial

Notice. (ECF No. 7. On April 22, 2020, the parties filed a Joint Motion to Coiukstée
Cases. (ECF No. 8). On May 11, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Responsgpiosaion. (ECF
No. 9.2 On May 19, 2020, Defendant filed a Reply. (ECF Nd).

1 Defendant requests the Court to take judicial notice of Exhibit 1 (ECF No. 7-1) and Exhibit 2 (ECF Nc

7-2) to Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice in support of Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss. See ECH
No. 7. The Court has not considered these exhibits in resolving this Order.

2 Plaintiff requests the Court to take judicial notice of Exhibit A (ECF Nb). 89-Plaintiff’s Request for
Judicial Notice in support of Plaintiff’s Response in opposition. See ECF No. 9-1The Court has ng
considered this exhibit in resolving this Order.

3:20¢cv-00492WQH-BGS

—



O© 00 N oo o b W N B

N NN NN DNNNNRRRRRRR R R R
oo ~NI o 00 N0 N R O O 0O N o 00 DN NN RO

o\

Tase 3:20-cv-00492-WQH-BGS Document 11 Filed 08/03/20 PagelD.165 Page 3 of 19

[1. ALLEGATIONSOF THE COMPLAINT

“Plaintiff is a corporation authorized to do and doing business in the City
Encinitas, County of San Diego, State of Californias an inpatient residential substa
abuse treatment facility..” (ECF No. 1-4 at 2). Plaintiff‘provided residential treatme
care services which were or should have been covered by health aespadinies which
... were provided, sponsored, supplied, underwritten, administadédramplemented b
Defendant] ....” Id. at 23. “Defendant ... iS a corporation authorized to do and dg
substantial insurance and/or health plan/policy administratiasiness in the city (
Encinitas, county of San Diego, and state of California, withe jurisdiction of this
court” Id. at 3.

While the subject plans/policies were in effect, patients who were
insured under plans issued by Defendant[] sought treatnigr®laintiff. The
patients/insureds whose claims are at issue in this litigat®not specifically
identified herein for privacy/HIPAA reasons and the identifymigimation
relating to the patients and claims will be provided upequest in a
private/confidential manner to Defendant[]. Plaintiff took reasonabls step
verify available benefits, including contacting Defendant[], mscted by
Defendant[], to verify insurance benefits, including calling Defetjflahthe
phone number provided by the Defendant[], and was advised ie thes
verification of benefit ([“]VOBJ”]) calls that the policies provided for and
Defendant[] would pay for inpatient treatment, based on thd, sistomary
and reasonable rate ([“JUCR[”]) and/or prior payment history. In reasonable
reliance on these representations and information, and pursuaht to
agreement of Defendant[] to pay based on the UCR, Plaintiff adnaitteéd
treated the patients and submitted claims for payment in @@ dvith these
representations and agreements.

UCR is a certain and well-known term of art, and methodology fo
determining a payment rate, in the health care industry. Based on the
representations that the payment would be based on the UCRpgyment
history, authorization and agreement of the Defendant[] allegedeabov
Plaintiff provided the agreed upon services and has performed all conditions
covenants and promises required to be performed in accordancéh&vith
agreements referred to herein above except, if applicable, those that hrave be;
excused, waived or are otherwise inapplicable.

Within the past two years, at Encinitas, California, the Defendant[]
breached [its] agreements with Plaintiff and/or committed other iubagts
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and omissions by refusing to pay Plaintiff the represented anddagree
upon/represented amount, but rather paid different and signijidawer

(and inconsistent) amounts for treatment, leaving an unpaid dealah
$219,893.89 owing from Defendant[] to Plaintiff which hassealPlaintiff
substantial hardship. Plaintiff is informed and believes aedebn alleges
that at the time benefits were verified Defendant[] had information regarding
the different/lower daily payment amounts but withheld itifatrmation from
Plaintiff. As a result of the facts and conduct alleged herein, an
unconscionable injury would result to Plaintiff if Defendant] ot required

to pay the represented/agreed to payment rate based on the UCRraadtpay
history, and Defendant]] [is] equitably estopped from denyihg t
agreement/obligation to pay that amount.

Id. at 34.
[1l. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) permits dismissal for “failure to state a

claim upon which relief can be granted ....” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 8(a) provides that “[a] pleading that states a claim for relief must contain ... a
short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief ....”

Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). “A district court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim undé

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) is proper if there is a lackcogaizable legal

theory or the absence of sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable legal theory.”
Conservation Force v. Salazar, 646 F.3d 1240, 1242 (9tl2@id.) (internal quotatio

marks and citation omitted). “All allegations of material fact are taken as true and

construed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Thompson v. Davis, 295

F.3d 890, 895 (9th Cir. 2002) (citing Sprewell v. Golden St.rives, 266 F.3d 979, 98
(9th Cir. 2001).

“[A] plaintiff’s obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief’
requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaiatr@ciof the elements of
cause of action will not do...” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (20(
(second alteration in original) (citation omitted). Whensidering a motion to dismiss

court must accept as true all “well-pleaded factual allegations ....” Ashcroft v. Igbal, 55¢
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U.S. &2, 679 (2009). However, a court is not “required to accept as true allegations that
are merely conclusory, unwarranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable inferences.”
Sprewell, 266 F.3dt988 (citation omitted). “In sum, for a complaint to survive a motion
to dismiss, the non-conclusoffactual content, and reasonable inferences from t
content, must be plausibly suggestive of a claim entitling the plaintiff to relief.” Moss V.
U.S. Secret Serv., 572 F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting Asheb56 U.S.at678).
V. DISCUSSION

a. Breach of Contract (Oral Agreement) (claim 1) and Breach of Contract

(Implied Contract) (claim 2)

Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allege suffici@cts to establish an o
agreement or implied contract between Plaintiff and Defendant. @sfecontends th
anoral agreement or implied contract was not formed during the MiBe calls initiate
by Plaintiff. Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allegutual assent or certain ter
Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allege that thegsargached an agreemen
price because Plaintiff fails to allege a specific dollar amountiefgndant agreed to p

Plaintiff contends that its breach of contract claims are based &QB phone cal
and Defendant’s authorization for services. Plaintiff asserts that Defendant stated that it
would pay for Plaintiff’s services based on the UCR and that Defendant authorized
Plaintiff’s services. Plaintiff contends that VOB and authorization communications
the basis of contract agreements. Plaintiff contends that thei¢J@&Rertain and we
known term in the industry analogous to the concept of faireha&gtue. Plaintiff conten
that Defendant agreed to a recognized method by which the dol@amamwould b
objectively determined when Defendant stated that it would pay the UCR.

“A contract is either express or implied.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1619. “A cause of action|
for breach of implied contract has the same elements as doesataason for breach
contract, except that the promise is not expressed in wordss implied from th
promisor’s conduct.” Yari v. Producers Guild of Am., Inc., 161 Cal. App. 4th 1724

(2008) (citation omitted):‘The elements of a breach of oral contract claim are the sams

5
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those for a breach of written contract” Stockton Mortg., Inc. v. Tope, 233 Cal. App.
437, 453 (2014) (citations omitted)The standard elements of a claim for bread
contract are: (1) the contract, (2ipkiff’s performance or excuse for nonperformance, (3)
defendant’s breach, and (4) damage to plaintiff therefrom.” Wall St. Network, Ltd. v. Ne
York Times Co., 164 Cal. App. 4th 1171, 1178 (2008) (integonatation marks and citati
omitted).

“It is essential to the existence of a contract that there should [pdarties capab

of contracting; 2. [tlheir consent; 3. [a] lawful object; and, 4. dalficient cause ¢

consideration.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1550. “The consent of the parties to a contract must be:

1. [f]ree; 2. [m]utual; and, 3. [cJommunicated by each to the other.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1565.
“Consent is not mutual, unless the parties all agree upon the same thing in the same sense.”
Cal. Civ. Code § 1580. “The existence of mutual consent is determined by objective rat
than subjective criteria, the test being what the outward esiatfons of consent wol
lead a reasonable person to believe.” Weddington Prods., Inc. v. Flick, 60 Cal. App.
793, 811 (1998) (citation omitted).

VOB and authorization phone calls alone are generally insufficientrtotfee bas
for an oral or implied contract because they lack a manifestation oftitdesnter into
contract. See e.g., TML Recovery, LLC v. Humana Inc., No. SACV 18-004G62JDEX)
2018 WL 8806104, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 26, 2018plaintiffs allege that they verified
patients’ benefits and obtained authorization as necessary. But ‘within the medica
insurance industry, an insurer’s verification is not the same as a promise to pay.”); TML
Recovery, LLC v. Humana Inc., No. SACV 18-00462 AG (JDEXx), 20193208807, at *
(C.D. Cal. Mar. 4, 2019) (“Plaintiffs allege that they verified the patients’ benefits and
obtained authorization as necessary But ‘within the medical insurance industry, &
insurer’s verification is not the same as a promise to pay.’”); see also Regents of the U
of California v. Aetna US Health of California, Inc., No. S 10-1043 DOC (RNBX

2011 WL 13227844, at *5 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 15, 2011) (VOB and authorizgtmne call

alone found to be insufficient to create an oral or implied contractotions for summalry

6
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judgmenj; Stanford Hosp. & Clinics v. Multinational Underwritetac., No. CO7-05497
JF (RS), 2008 WL 5221071, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 12, 2008) (same).

In Pacific Bay, tlk plaintiff “alleged that it ‘contacted Blue Shield to obtain prior
authorization, precertification and consent to render treatment anurrpepfocedurs
upon’ the subscriber.” Pac. Bay Recovery, Inc. v. California Physicians' Servs., In
Cal. App. 5th 200, 216 (2017). The plaintiffeged that it “was advised by representatives
of Blue Shield that the [subscriber] was insured, covered, &jitdlelfor coverage und
the respective Plan or Policy for the services to be rendered bydtheffy, at facilitieg
operated by [the plaintiff] and that [the plaintiff] would be g &or performance of tf
procedures, care, and/or treatment rendered by BlukiShid. (first alteration in original
The daintiff alleged “that it ‘was led to believe that it would be paid a portion or percentage
of its total billed charges, which charges correlated wstlilj reasonable and custon
charges.”” 1d. The Court of Appeal stated, in relevant part,

These allegations lack the specific facts required for us éordiete there was
any meeting of the minds between the parties. At Qdst, plaintiff]’s
allegations show that Blue Shield admitted that the sildescwas covered
under one of its health plans and that it would pay songtfor [the
plaintiff]’s treatment of the subscriber. What type of treatment or the extent
of treatment is not described. In addition, it does not appegeatties reached
any sort of agreement as to the rate Blue Shield would payp|taintiff].
Indeed, [the plaintiffplleged it was led to believe Blue Shield would pay “a
portion or percentage of its total billed charges, which chaayeslated with
usual, reasonable and customary charges.” Blue Shield did pay a portion of

the billed charges, but [the plaintiff] argues it was not ghotdowever, we
cannot say Blue Shielsl payments breached any implied contract because
there is no indication in the FAC what exactly Blue Shield agreed to pay.

Id.

However, courts have found that factual allegations of coveragadeyOB ang
authorization phone calls may be sufficient to allege thstexte of an oral or impli
contract. See e.g., Bristol SL Holdings, Inc. v. Cigna Heal@Ib$. Co., No. SACV 1
00709 AG (ADSx), 2020 WL 2027955, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 6, 2020) (“Bristol’s allegations
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go beyond a simple pre-authorization or verification and taekielt guarantee that Cig
would cover the treatment. For each patient, Bristol alleges whatdfytreatment w3

being sought and how long the course of treatment was edptxrtiast, along wit

extensions of time and requests to follow up. Bristol furtheges a specific billing rate

pegged to a percentage of the usual, customary and reasonabled aléeges a differe
rate depending on whether or not the patient had met his ontef-pocket maximum. |
each of the follow-up calls, Sure Haven was ensured the payment beuhdde at tf

previously agreed upon rate. These allegations are sufficientad al@lausible clai

under Rule 8(a).”); Out of Network Substance Use Disorder Claims, No. SACV 1%

JVS (DFMXx), 2020 WL 2114934, at *8 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 21, 202B)aintiff alleges that
‘... in multiple communications following admissions and the submission of claims,
Defendants.. orally promised to pay IRintiff for the treatment provided to Defendants’
insureds on the same terms as provided for in the policieeéetidefendants and th
insureds; specifically, payments to Plaintiff equal to approximately 70% of Plaintiff’s fully-

billed charges (based on 30% ioeurance payable by the patients).”... And ‘[i]n|

communication with Plaintiff, including telephone calls requestindigation of benefits

Defendants.. represented to Plaintiff that the services provided to Defendants’ insureds

would be reimbused at the fully billed charges.... These allegations plausibly describeg

Ina
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e
m
20

eir

b

the

services United promised to pay for.”); California Spine & Neurosurgery Inst. v. United

Healthcare Servs., Inc., No. 8/-2867 PSG (AFM), 2018 WL 6074567, at *4 (C.D. {
June 282018) (“The facts alleged include specific names and dates of the calls between
Plaintiff and Defendant regarding payment for Patient’s services, what the services would
be, what was said, and by wheancluding that Defendant agreed to pay a specific
75% of the UCR rate until Patient’s MOOP expense was met, and 100% of the UCR rate

afterwards.... Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged that an oral contract wasned betweg

the parties.”); Regents of University of California v. Principal FinadcGroup, 412 F.

Supp. 2d 1037, 1042 (N.D. Cal006) (“First, ... defendants in this case provided |

verification of coverage and explicit authorization for the hospitat. Second, defenday
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in this case provided the verification and authorizationtdeast six separate occasic
both orally and in writing.Drawing inferences from the factual record most favoral
plaintiff, it would be reasonable to conclude based on the wrétghorizations th
defendants intended to be bound, subject to the provisions of the policy.

In this case, the Complaint glks that Plaintiff “call[ed] Defendant[] at the phone

number provided by the Defendant[], and was advised in th&3B][¥alls that the policie

provided for and Defendant[] would pay for inpatient treatmenedas the [UCR] and/
prior payment histor” (ECF No. 1-4 at 4). The Complaint further alleges that “[b]ase
on the representations that the payment would be based d@Rgorior payment histor

authorization and agreement of the Defendant[] alleged abovejfPfaiovided the agree

NS,
le to

At

174

S

olg
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Y,
d

upon services...” Id. “These allegations lack the specific facts required for [the

rt]

determine there was any meeting of the minds between the paRes. Bay, 12 Cal. App.

5th at 216. The alleged VOB calls and the allegations regarding “the [UCR] and/or pri
payment history” “lack the specific facts required for [the Court] to determine thverss

an agreement between Plaintiff and Defendant to pay a specific antt@RtNo. 1-4 at |

Pac. Bay, 12 Cal. App. 5th at 216. The Complaint fails to alfegts to infer mutual

consent in which “the parties all agree[dpon the same thing in the same sense.” Cal. Civ
Code 8§ 1580.The Court concludes th8taintiff’s breach of oral agreement and breach of]
implied contract claims against Defendant fail to statenslaupon which relief can
granted pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(bX&)ntiff’s first and second
claims are dismissed without prejudice.

b. Promissory Estoppéel (claim 3)

Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allege that Defenaeae any clear a
unambiguous promise to Plaintiff that Defendant would pay a specific ambefendar
contends that Plaintiff’s reliance on Defendant’s representations is unreasonable because of]
the ambiguous nature of the alleged promBaintiff contends that its promissory estoj

claimis based on VOB and authorization phone calls with Defend@aintiff asserts th
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it was advised that Defendant would pay based on the UCRInti?l contends thg
Defendant should be estopped from paying anything other than the UCR.

“A cause of action for promissory estoppel is basically the same as contract actions,
but only missing the consideiat clement.” Yari, 161 Cal. App. 4th at 182 (inter
quotation marks and citation omitted)Promissory estoppel applies whenever a promise
which the promissor should reasonably expect to inducenaatiforbearance on the g
of the promisee or a third person and which does induceasticim or forbearance wot
result in an injustice if thpromise were not enforced.” Advanced Choices, Inc. v. St
Dep’t of Health Servs., 182 Cal. App. 4th 1661, 1671-72 (2010) (internal quotation $
and citationsomitted). “The elements of a promissory estoppel claim are (1) a promise
clear and unambiguous in its terms; (2) reliance by the partydowie promise is mac

(3) [the] reliance must be both reasonable and foreseeable; and @9rth asserting t

quotation marks and citation omitted).
In this case, the Complaint alleges the followimgspant to Plaintiff’s promissory
estoppel claim (claim)3

... Defendant[] knew that the patient’s insurance policies did not provide the
coverage payment amounts represented by Defendant[] to the aulalige
and specifically Plaintiff. Nevertheless, ... Defendant[] knowingly and/or
negligently represented to Plaintiff the coverage payment amounts ... with the
intention that Plaintiff would rely on the representationd Enowing that
Plaintiff had no knowledge of the falsity of the representations.

Plaintiff relied upon Defendant[’s] representations and admitted the
Defendant[’s] insureds for treatment based thereon. Had Plaintiff known of
the falsity of the representations it would not have done sooréingly,
Defendant[] [is] estopped from asserting any payment amounacpmd the
representations made by Defendant[] and Plaintiff is entitlddntages in an
amount according to proof together with interest at the lega) asd any
other appropriate relief.

(ECF No. 1-4 at 6).

10
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Plaintiff’s failure to allege sufficient facts to establish the treatment ridizfiet
promised to pay for and the patients Defendant promisedytdor precludes Plaintiff’s
promissory estoppel claim. Compare TML Recoy@018 WL 8806104, at *3 (“The

and quantum meruit, as well.”) and TML Recovery2019 WL 3208807, at *4 (‘“Plaintiffs’

contracts.... Thus, Plaintiffs haven’t plausibly stated the Third through Sixth claims.”) with

Bristol, 2020 WL 2027955, at *@‘As previously discussed, Bristol has alleged sufficient

claim is based on theame facts, it survives.”) and Out of Network, 2020 WL 2114934,

*8 (“The Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately alleged a ‘clear and unambiguous’

promise. The ‘promises’ upon which Plaintiff relies are not merely general representations

of what thepatients’ policies would cover in verification calls ... but additional assurances

Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6Plaintiff’s third claim is dismissed without prejudice.

c. Quantum Meruit (claim 4)

Defendant requested Plaintiffservices. Defendant asserts that Plaintiff alleges

Plaintiff’s services that Plaintiff provided to third parties. Defendant consaihat Plaintiff

fails to allege that Defendant benefited frBhaintiff’s services.Plaintiff contends that a

allegations.

11
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claims for breach of implied contract, breach of oral contract, promisgstoppel, and

guantum meruit are based on promises Defendants allegedhouotaak of their insurance

facts for a plausible oral or implied contract claim, and becaug®atissory estoppel

that United would pay.”). The Court concludes that Plaintifpromissory estoppel clajm

Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allege sufficientsfao establish that

Plaintiff initiated contact with Defendant to verify coverage awk authorization.

of the elements of a quantum meruit cause of action are includedmutted by factugl

previously discussed absence of specific facts about what d2efesnpromised and when

and to whom is precludes its claims for breach of implied aoftpromissory estoppel,

at

against Defendant fails to staelaim upon which relief can be granted pursuant to Federa

tha

Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allege that Defenalaole specific requests for



O© 00 N oo o b W N B

N NN NN DNNNNRRRRRRR R R R
oo ~NI o 00 N0 N R O O 0O N o 00 DN NN RO

g

hse 3:20-cv-00492-WQH-BGS Document 11 Filed 08/03/20 PagelD.174 Page 12 of 19

“Quantum meruit refers to the well-established principle that the law implig
promise to pay for services performed under circumstances disctbsinthey were n
gratuitously rendered.” Children’s Hosp. Cent. California v. Blue Cross of California, 22
Cal. App. 4th 1260, 1274 (2014) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “Quantum|
meruit (or quasi-contract) is an equitable remedy impliedhéyaw under which a plaint

who has rendered services benefiting the defendant may recoveasiomable value

Laurentiis Entm’t Grp. Inc., 963 F.2d 1269, 1272 (9th Cir. 1992) (citation omitte)In
order to recover under a quantum meruit theory, a plaintiff musblest both that he
she was acting pursuant to either an express or im@paest for such services from
defendant and that the services rendered were intended todabengifitthe defendant.”
Day v. Alta Bates Med. Ctr., 98 Cal. App. 4th 243, 248 (2002) (esipln original).

In this casethe Complaint alleges the following pursuant to Plaintiff’s quantum
meruit claim (claim 4):

... Defendant[] communicated to Plaintiff that the insureds/pttie. were
insured and that the claims would be covered based orGRer&te and prior
history of dealings. By virtue of these communications anddhduct of the
Defendant[] ... Plaintiff was induced to provide substance abuse treatment

services.
Plaintiff provided the substance abuse treatment serviceheto t
patients/insureds ... in reasonable reliance upon the representations and

conduct of the Defendant([]. Plaintiff providing the substance abusengraat
services in reliance on the representations, communicationgorand
agreements by Defendant[] was not gratuitous|.] [sic]

The amounts that Plaintiff billed for the substance abusenrtesdat
services was and is the reasonable value of those services. hemast
Defendant[] ha[s] refused to pay the reasonable value of thece®rjr]
represented would be paid, and instead have only paid a smallrfrattioe
reasonable value of the services. Under the circumstances, Defendardf] can
conscientiousl refuse to pay the balance due for the patients/insureds ... and
Defendant[] should be required to pay the remainder of the reasonhlde va
of the substance abuse treatment services provided by Plaitiiéf itesureds
of Defendant]].

12
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(ECF No. 1-4 at 67

Life Ins. Co., No. 2:15CV-08411RGK-PLA, 2016 WL 7626446, at *3 (C.D. Cal. S¢
30, 2016)“It is undisputed that Defendant did not request that Plaintiff provide [the patient]
with medical services.... Rather, [the patient] requested medical services from Plaintiff,
who then contacted Defendant to verify [the patient]’s coverage eligibility.... The

undisputed facts thus show that Plaintiff cannot estalttis third element of its quant

3d 1042, 1052 (N.D. Cal. 2015) (“In the health insurance context, it is the patient who f
requests service in the form of treatment. Then, the previiethis case CHOMP-must
seek authorization to provide such treatment from the insdrethis case Aetna. N
reasonable jury could conclude that CHONperformed services at [Aetna’s] request,’
when in fact CHOMP initiated contact with Aetna as to authorization.”).

The Complaint fails to allege sufficient factsdstablish that Plaintiff “was acting
pursuant to either an express or implied request. faervices from [ ] [D]efendant..”
Day, 98 Cal. App. 4th at 248 (emphasis in original); comp@alifornia Spine, 2018 W

6074567, at *2“Plaintiff alleges only a single verification call.... Courts have rejected the

request for services by a defendant.... Because the facts as alleged do not establish that

Defendant made an express or implied request for Plaintiff’s services, Plaintiff cannot

2114934, at *9 (“Plaintiff alleges that United ‘by words and conduct, requested that Plaintiff
provide medically necessary treatment to their insureds, which bedel#fendants
terms of meeting their legal and contractual obligations teigeoor arrange for ti
provision of access to health care services in a timely manner.’... And ‘[a]s part of verifying
benefits and authorizing treatment when necessary, and in mutigzhmunicatior
following admissions and the submission of claims, Defendants each of them, kn¢

13
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A single verification phone call made by a plaintiff failsestablish an implie

request for services by a defendant. See e.g., Barlow RespiratorywHOgma Health &

meruit claim.”); Cmty. Hosp. of the Monterey Peninsula v. Aetna Life Ins. C& FLBupp.

argument that a single verification telephone call made by atiffiaepresents an impli¢

establishthe first element of its quantum meruit claim.”) with Out of Network, 2020 WL
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that Plaintiff was providing services to Defendants’ insureds and promised to pay Plaintiff]
for the treatment and thereafter enjoyed the benefit of Plaintiffigpngy the services
Defendants were obligated to ensure for their insureds.’... The Court finds that the
allegations plausibly give rise to an inference that Unregliested Plaintiff treat |ts
insureds.”).

In addition, the Complaint fails to allegefficient facts to establish “that the services
rendered were intended to and did benefit [ kfeYjdant.” Day, 98 Cal. App. 4th at 248

(emphasis in originalsee e.g., IV Sols., Inc. v. United HealthCare Servs., Inc., No. GV 16

09598-MWF (AGRx), 201%L 3018079, at *11 (C.D. Cal. July 12, 2017) (“IV Solutions’
guantum meruit claim must be dismissed for essentiallydahee geason as its claim for
breach of contract under a third party beneficiary theatywas United’s members, not
United itself, who bnefitted from IV Solutions’ services.”).

The Court concludes that Plaintifiquantum meruit claim against Defendant fals
statea claim upon which relief can be granted pursuant to Fedetald®Civil Procedure
12(b)(6). Plaintiff’s fourth claim is dismissed without prejudice.

d. Violation of Business & Professions Code 8§ 17200 (claim 8)

Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allege that theipigilikely to be deceived.
Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to identify statemdraswere made to members of
the general public. Defendant asserts that its alleged statemergsmade solely o
Plaintiff. Defendant contends that Plaintiff fails to allege tefendant and Plaintiff are
competitors in the same type of business because Plaintifubsdance abuse treatment
center and Defendant insures or administers health beneft plzefendant contends that
Plaintiff fails to allege that it is a consumer of Defendant’s services because Plaintiff fails

to allege that it is enrolled in a health plan insurediarinistered by Defendant. Defendant

contends that Plaintiff fails to establish an unlawfullmtause California statutes do|not

apply to Defendant.
Plaintiff contends that Defendant violated California Health & Saleige § 1371.

California Insurance Code ®0.03, and California’s mental health parity laws. Plaintiff]

[98)
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contends that Defendant engaged in a fraudulent business@raetaintiff contends th
Defendant engaged in deceptive business practices by indutangifPto providg
treatment to Defendant’s insureds.

California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”) “prohibits ‘any unlawful, unfair or|
fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising.””
Levitt v. Yelp! Inc., 765 F.3d 1123, 1129-30 (9th Cir. 2014 ptmg Cal. Bus. & Prof. Cog
§ 17200). “In prohibiting ‘any unlawful’ business practice, the UCL ‘borrows violations of]
other laws and treats them as unlawful practices that the [UCL] ma#lependent
actionable.”” Id. (citations omitted).“An unfair business practice is one that either offends
an established public policy or is immoral, unethical, oppressunscrupulous
substantially injurious to consumers.” McDonald v. Coldwell Banker, 543 F.3d 498,
(9th Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks and citation omijttetlo state a claim under
either [the fraudulent or unfair] prong, a plaintiff’s burden of proof is modest: the

representative plaintiff must show that members of the puididileely to be deceived

prosecuted ... by a person who has suffered injury in factastbst money or property
a result of the unfair competition.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204.

In this casethe Complaint alleges the following pursuant to Plaintiff’s violation of
Business & Professions Code § 17200 claim (claim 8):

... Defendat[] ha[s] engaged in a pattern of conduct including, ... prior to
treatment informatiomon-network substance abuse treatment providers like
Plaintiff that substance abuse treatment services will be paid bastt
UCR and/or payment history, then authorizing providers to perfbmem t
services (like [it]did with Plaintiff ...), but when claims are submitted
Defendant[] pay[s] only a fraction of the UCR and provide[s] false and
misleading information regarding the payment amounts for servides
continuing conduct is unlawful, unfair and/or fraudulent aodstitutes an
unfair business practice.

The Defendant[’]s [sic] conduct, including misrepresenting the amount
it will pay for substance abuse treatment and then paying taatibBy lower

15
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the practice.” Friedman v. AARP, Inc., 855 F.3d 1047, 1055 (9th Cir. 2017 er(ied

quotation marks andlitation omitted). “Actions for relief pursuant to [the UCL may] bé
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unreasonable amount is unlawful and unfair, and constiftaes against

Plaintiff since Plaintiff makes admission decisions based ammtion that

is provided by and/or agreements entered into with Defendart@nw

insurance benefits and payment amounts are verified and confiptaediff

... alleges that Defenddn]s [sic] conduct is in violation of California law,

including but not limited to California Health and Safetgdesection 1371.8,

Insurance Code section 790.03 and California’s mental health parity laws.
(ECF No. 1-4 at 8-9, 10

Plaintiff’s UCL claim is “incidental to and depend[ent] upon the validity (or
invalidity) of the preceding claims for relief.” Krantz v. BT Visual Images, L.L.C., 89 C
App. 4th 164, 178 (2001), as modified (May 22, 2001). Plaintiff’s UCL claim “stand[s] or
fall[s] depending on the fate of the antecedent substantive causes of action.” Id. Thus
Plaintiff’s UCL claim fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.e%., TM
Recovery2018 WL 8806104, at *3 (“And since Plaintiffs’ Seventh Claim for violation o
California’s Unfair Competition Law 1is entirely derivative of the other claims that are
insufficiently pled in the FAC, the Seventh Claim must be dismissed, too.”); TML Recovery
2019 WL 3208807, at *4 (“And since Plaintiffs Seventh Claim for violation of Californis
Unfair Competition Law is conclusory and entirely derivative ef dther claims that g
insufficiently pled in the SAC, the Seventh Claim must be dismissed).too.

In addition, Plaintiff’s allegations regarding Defendant’s violations of Californi

Health & Safety Code 8§ 1371.8alifornia Insurance Code § 790.03, and California’s

true ....” Sprewell, 266 F.3d at 988 (citation omittesige also Out of Network, 2020 \
2114934, at *1“The Court finds that Plaintiff sufficiently alleges that United is liable
under the ‘unlawful” prong of the UCL. The Complaint does not merely allege a ‘laundry
list” of statutes ... but also specific conductnoUnited’s part that plausibly constitutes
violations of these statutes.”).

The Court concludes that Plaintiffclaim for violation of Business & Professig

Code § 17200 against Defendant fails to statéaim upon which relief can be gran

16
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mental health parity laws are “merely conclusory” and not “required to [be] accept[ed] as$
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pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)@hintiff’s eighth claim is dismissed
without prejudice.
e. Intentional Misrepresentation (claim 5), Negligent Misrepresentation
(claim 6), Intentional Concealment (claim 7)

Defendant contends that Plaintiff’s fraud-based claims are barred by the econ

because Plaintiff fails to adequately allege intent. Defendantmdsitthat Plainff’s
negligent misrepresentation claim fails because Deferdatiegedly negligent fals
promise to pay money in the future is not an actionableeprissentation. Defendji
contends that Plaintiff’s fraudulent concealment claim fails because Plaintiff fails to alleg
facts establishing that Defendant had a duty to discl@sspécific amounts of benefit
would pay for Plaintiffs services. Defendant contends that Plaintiff’s fraud-based clain
fail because they are not alleged with particularity.

Plaintiff contends that the economic loss rule is inapplicable to €fnfraudulen
inducement. Plaintiff contends that Defendant fraudulently induced Plaintiffreat it
patients based on Defendant’s representations that Plaintiff would be paid for its services,

that the payment rate would be the UCR, and that the serviceawhblmized. Plainti

claims are alleged for breach of contract and fraud and when thenexisif a contract
disputed. Plaintiff contends that its fraud claims are properly pled.

“In alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity the circumstances
constituting fraud or mistake.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Rule 9(b) “requires ... an account of]
the time, place, and specific content of the false representasomsll as the identities
the parties to the misrepresentations.” Swartz v. KPMG LLP, 476 F.3d 756, 764 (9th
2007) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “To comply with Rule 9(b),
allegations of fraud must be specific enough to give defencdharitse of the particuls

misconduct which is alleged to constitute the fraud charged sthéyatan defend agai

17
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the charge and not just deny that they have done anything wrong.” Bly-Magee v. Californiz
236 F.3d 1014, 1019 (9th Cir. 2001) (internal quotation marks &aitboi omitted).
Averments of fraud must be accompanied by the who, what, when, &hdre,
how of the misconduct charged.... [A] plaintiff must set forth more than the
neutral facts necessary to identify the transaction. The plaintiff must set forth
what is false or misleading about a statement, and why it is false.
Vess v. Ciba-Geigy Corp. USA, 317 F.3d 1097, 1106 (9th2D3) (second alteration g
emphasis in original) (internal quotation marks and citationsted).

In this case, the Complaint alleges the following pursuant to Plaintiff’s intentional
misrepresentation claim (claim 5)Within the past two years, Plaintiff and Defenda
entered into negotiations for the treatment and services of Plaintiff’s patients/Defendant|’s]
insureds .... In connection with these negotiations, said Defendant[] ... with the intent to
deceive and defraud Plaintiff, falsely and fraudulently made represastatidlaintiff
....7 (ECF No. 1-4 at ) Pursuant to Plaintiff’s negligent misrepresentation claim (clg
6), the Complaint alleges th&it the time of the representations made by Defendant][] ...
and thereafter, Defendant[] ... concealed and suppressed from Plaintiff [its] lack of
information and data and the consequent inability to accynaigke the representatio
....” 1d. at 8. Pursuant to Plaintiff’s intentional concealment claim (claim 7), the Compl
alleges that‘Defendant[] ... actively concealed material facts regarding the coverages
and/or rates that it wouldap from Plaintiff ....” Id. The Complaint fails to'state with
particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistakkeed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).The
Court concludes that Plaintiffintentional misrepresentation, negligent misrepresents
and intentional concealment claims fail to state claims uguohwrelief can be grante
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)@hintiff’s fifth, sixth, and seventh

claims are dismissed without prejudite.

3 The Court does not rule on whether Plaintiff’s claims against Defendant are barred by the economic
rule or otherwise fail to state claims upon which relief can be granted pursuant to Federal Rule
Procedure 12(b)(6).
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V. CONCLUSION

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motion to Dismiss filed by DefaendBlue
Cross and Blue Shield of North Carolina (ECF No. 6) is GRANTED n#fids Complaint
Is DISMISSED without prejudiceAny motion for leave to file an amended pleading n|
be filed within 30 days of this Order.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Joint Motion to Consolid@seses filed by
Plaintiff Aton Center, Inc. and Defendant Blue Cross and Blue Shiddtbih Caroling
(ECF No. 8) is DENIED.

Dated: August 3, 2020 % s 2 /é

Hon. William Q. Hayes
United States District Court
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